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Th® Horseshoe ;Bend or Lovejoy Homestead, is situated at the north end 
of Wildnerness road next to the scenic South fork of the Eel River. 
The site includes a Victorian residence locally known as the "White 
House", as well as a woodshed, blacksmith shop ruins, guest cabins 
(across the river from the residence), barn, original wagon road 
(now passable by automobile) small apple orchard and an old hayfieId. 
The Victorian 2-story residence, constructed in two stages, is unique 
for such a remote location. The single-story, south wing of the house 
was built in the 1890's as the homesteader's original cabin. The 2-story 
Victorian addition was completed in 1905. The connecting units are 24' 
by 28' each; the newer -section is offset 11' west of the old cabin. 
A 4 1 extension of the kitchen in the old cabin makes the east wall 28' 
instead of 24'. Both halves of the house are constructed of local 
Redwood. The exterior walls of the older section are covered in 
vertical Redwood board and batten while the walls of the newer section 
are built of horizontal, lapped Redwood siding that was originally painted 
white. A 6' wide porch, with balcony above, extends along the north and 
west sides of the 2-story section. The porch continues along the west 
side of the older cabin. Both the addition and cabin have a saddled 
roof of Redwood shingles. A fiberglass shed-roof covers the porch 
on the west side of the older cabin and a false shed-roof of aluminum 
(over old Redwood shingles) covers the kitchen and north side of the 
original homestead.

Inside the old cabin is a main room, forming the house's parlor, with 
a fireplace on the south wall. The kitchen is located on the east side 
of the old cabin and is equipped with an operable hand pump (perhaps 
original) for well water. The downstairs portion of the 2-story addition 
is divided into 2 bedrooms of unequal size and a bathroom. The upstairs 
is divided into 4 equal-sized bedrooms. There is also a large unfinished 
attic.

The structural integrity of the exterior has changed little since the 
1905 addition. The fiberglass covering and false shed-roof of aluminum over 
the kitchen could be easily replaced with other materials without any damage 
to the cabin. The only other alterations to the structure have been 
miscellaneous repairs to the porches '^11 V keeping with the original 
design and materials) and the redesign and rebuilding of the fireplace in 
the 1930's.

Aside from the collapsed state of some of the outbuildings and slight 
encroachment of forest growth, the site has changed little from the days 
of the first homesteaders. Because the site has remained unusually well 
preserved it is still visually suggestive of the settler's activities and 
even the uninformed visitor can easily recognize the layout and boundaries 
of the original homestead.
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Horseshoe Bend, situated by the South fork of the Eel River and framed 
by rugged mountains covered with Redwood and Douglas fir,formed the 
backdrop for the homestead of George and Annie Lovejoy in the early 1890's. 
Each component of the site—the house, the weathered outbuildings, the 
field and orchard—reflects a significant stage of the settlement and 
development history of Mendocino County. The homesteading era and its 
associated agriculture, the significant architecture of the period and 
later land use and recreational trends are all reflected in this undisturbed 
setting.

The 1890's marked the start of settlement in Mendocino County and the Lovejoy 
family was among the first to homestead in this area. The cabin they 
constructed in many ways was representative of the first homesteads-­ 
small, board and batten construction with a shed-like kitchen, equipped 
with a handpump for water,located in the rear of the structure. The 
family's livelihood was farming and the abandoned sheds,remains of the 
barn, blacksmith shop, orchard, field and miscellaneous farming implements 
all suggest the toil and lifestyle that traditional mixed farming meant in 
this rugged land.

About 1905 the Lovejoy's, perhaps anticipating the next development phase of 
the area or perhaps simply wanting a more comodious home, built a 2-story 
addition to the old cabin. The new house, with its wood frame, porches, 
balconies and parlor, was rather elegant for its remote setting. The 
style, though, was simple with straight, clean lines instead of 
the more decorative flair of the houses in town. The new, large dwelling 
and several simple guest cabins built across the river became a lucrative 
business when the resort boom hit around 1910. Horseshoe Bend and 
Wilderness Lodge, one mile south of Horseshoe Bend, were the biggest resorts 
in the area and when Wilderness Lodge was destroyed by fire in the mid-1930's, 
Horseshoe Bend was left as the only reminder of this period. The Lovejoy's 
house was ideal for the resort business; a large parlor, the upstairs 
bedrooms, porch,balcony and guest cabins across the river all recall this 
exciting but short-lived period. After the decline of the resort business 
in the 1920's the house became a summer home for a string of relatively 
affluent owners. Style and comfort became important and in the 1930's the 
fireplace was rebuilt and one of the first telephones in this part of the 
county was installed. Little else was changed. Escalating taxes and 

1 expenses in the early 1950's marked the end of the summer cabin era. But 
the 1950's also marked' the beginning of the trend toward institutional 
use, the time when much of this part of the county was being rediscovered for 
its recreational potential, particularly for summer youth cLpsf A group
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known as Camp Adventure purchased the house with the 
intention of making it a YMCA training center; however, aside from a 
few visits by the staff, these plans never materialized and the house 
has remained unused.

In 1958 The Nature Conservancy, a national non-profit organization dedicated 
to the acquisition of ecologically unique lands, bought the site along with 
4,000 acres of adjoining lands. The property, known as the Northern Californ; 
Coast Range Preserve, is set aside for scientific and educational use as well 
as general nature appreciation. Today, the excellent condition and visual 
integrity of Horseshoe Bend and the White House along with the renewed interes 
in our national heritage, suggests a museum-interpretive use for the area 
so that visitors may gain an understanding and appreciation of the 
rich local history and unique natural elements of Mendocino County.
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